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66 EDINBURGH HOUSE NUMBERS

side consecutively to Drummond Street, returning by the
west side to the Tron Church. Mr. W. M. Gilbert, in his book
Edinburgh in the Nineteenth Century, refers to the unique
numbering of South Bridge, apparently not realising that it
is just a survival, the only survival of what was before 1811
the universal system,

FrANk GENT.

THE EDINBURGH SCHOOL OF DESIGN

established and maintained at public expense was

founded by the Board of Manufactures in the year
1760. Itsinstitution was due to the influence of the Edinburgh
School of St. Luke and of the Select Society of Edinburgh.
The former, incorporated in 1729, directed attention to the
value of design in industry. The latter, said to have been
founded by Allan Ramsay, Junior, about the middle of the
eighteenth century, attempted to raise the standard of
designing by offering annual premiums for the best drawings
of flowers, fruits, and foliage, as well as of patterns in which
the Dorie, Ionic, and Corinthian orders were incorporated.
But although competitors for the awards regularly submitted
their designs, the standard of attainment was low, and this
fact convinced the Society that a Master was urgently required
to teach the art of design.' From the memorial presented to
the Board of Manufactures by Sir George Clark, it was evident
that a School of Design was necessary in view of the difficulties
under which manufacturers of damask, printed linen, and
carpets laboured for want of modern and elegant patterns.?
The need for such a school was appreciated by the Trustees’
Committee who on 24th January 1760 recommended an
expenditure of £115 for ‘ teaching and promoting the Art of
Drawing for use of ’ linen and woollen manufacturers. Royal
Warrant for this expenditure was granted in July 1761.

THE first School of Design in the three Kingdoms

1 MS. Minutes of the Board of Manufactures, 23rd January 1786. (All refer-
ences are to these Minutes unless otherwise stated.) Rinder and Mackay, The
Royal Scottish Academy, 1826-1916 (Jar Macleh & Sons, Glasgow, 1917),
Part I, p. xxxii.

t MS. Minutes, 23rd January 1786.
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Lord Kames, as a leader of the movement, was largely
responsible for the establishment of the school. On him
devolved the task of selecting the first students and of re-
commending a salary of £100 for the Master, William de la
Cour, a native of France, who as early as 1st March 1760 had
procured a ‘ Good School House with the necessary Desks,
&c’ and had enrolled several pupils. According to the
Regulations governing the school, de la Cour taught three
days in the week from 3 p.m. until 7 p.m. His students were
charged one guinea per quarter, all except those nominated
by the Trustees who were taught gratis. The course of study
lasted for four years. At the end of each year, the Master of
the school submitted his annual report showing the names of
the students, their ages, designations, places of residence, and
dates of admission and of leaving. De la Cour was an artist
who imitated Watteau. His decorative work, in the grotesque
style, was exemplified in the Drawing Room of Milton House
in the Canongate.! Under his guidance the School of Design
flourished. Within four years of its institution its influence
had spread. We find that when the Drawing School at
Aberdeen was established by support of Lord Deskford and
others, William Mossman, the Master, applied to the Trustees
for the use of patterns and drawings of foliage executed by
de la Cour. The patterns were despatched to Aberdeen to be
copied, and the Trustees granted de la Cour ten guineas for
producing eighty-six drawings of foliage for use by the
northern school.?

On the death of de la Cour in 1767, the Trustees relied
on the assistance of Adam to procure ‘a master skillful in
design in general and the drawing of Patterns for the manu-
facturers &c in particular.’” Before the middle of November
1768, Charles Pavillon, a native of France and Drawing Master

1 Scottish Art and National Encouragement (William Blackwood & Sons, 1846),
Appendix I, p. 2.
® MS. Minutes, 15th February 1764.
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in London, was appointed. He was attentive to duty although
suffering from illness during his four years of office, but he
was a teacher of inferior ability. His school met in two rooms
of the College granted by the Town Council of Edinburghin 1768.

Pavillon died in 1772 and John Baptista Jackson, the
painter, applied for the mastership of the school. Since 1765
he had enjoyed an annual grant from the Trustees—five
pounds for the first year and fifty pounds thereafter—for
drawing patterns for manufacturers and for training apprentices
as designers. He was reputed as a designer of patterns for
carpets  in the Turkey way.” During his residence in England
his chief oceupation had been the designing of patterns for
stamped linen and calico. He was also a skilled block cutter.
His teaching, however, was so ineffective that in 1769 the
Trustees threatened to withdraw their support. His applica-
tion for the mastership of the School of Design was un-
successful, the Trustees preferring Alexander Runciman, the
well-known painter, who, born in Edinburgh, had served an
apprenticeship as a coach painter, and for five years had
studied in Ttaly. He had recently settled in his native city,
and the Board considered that by his appointment the
School of Design would maintain its standard. Under his
guidance, however, the usefulness of the school declined.
Students were admitted who made ° drawing only an amuse-
ment.” Others remained for protracted periods without
showing progress. The Master was indolent and inattentive,
and ‘wholly averse from teaching.” During the last few
years of his life the school was of little account. Indeed it was
in such state that on Runciman’s death in 1785, the Board
seriously considered whether it should be discontinued and
whether the interests of designing might not be better served
by awarding premiums for the best patterns submitted in
open competition. For several years the Trustees had offered
awards of ten pounds for damask patterns, but the premiums
had failed to attract the best artists, the competitors being
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mostly weavers, such as James Thomson of Drumsheugh, a
former pupil of the school, Thomas Mackenzie of the West
Port, Adam Mitchell, foreman to John Drummond of Leith
Wynd, Alexander Bonar of Dunfermline, Lockhart, ¢ back of
the dam,” Andrew Drysdale, Dudgeon of Sciennes, and others.
Had it not been for the advocacy of the Board’s Secretary,
the School of Design would probably have been closed. In
his Report he averred that it was impossible to assess the
worth of the Academy since it was unknown what became of
the students. Many were probably engaged in producing
patterns for the textile industries, e.g. Thomson of Drumsheugh
who supplied most of the damask manufacturers with patterns,
and John Bain whose designs were outstanding. Several
were employed as engravers, and several, artists of repute,
such as Jacomy Moir, Brown, Erskine, Nasmith, Caldwell,
and other portrait painters, had been taught the rudiments
of their art in the school. The decline of the Academy had
been largely due to the indolence of Runciman and to the
fact that students had been admitted to study art as an
amusement or as a polite accomplishment. Of the twenty-
four scholars in attendance at any time, a few only had been
manufacturers or mechanics or artists.

¢ Elegance in drawing,’ asserted the Secretary, would not
be promoted by offering premiums to those who could already
design, The number of designers would not increase.
¢ Natural genius without the advantage of a proper education
will seldom or never enable an Artist to excell. He must be
assisted with advice, and by good models being shown to him.
Without knowing those mechanical rules of art which have as
it were been established, and are now sanctioned by the
General practice of all Artists, Genius may long labour to
little purpose. Hence the use of a master whose mind is
stored with the knowledge of the true principles of art, and
who has taste to select and combine whatever is beautiful
and pleasing in it.’
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Robert Adam, London, John Stirling, Glasgow, who was
largely concerned in the printing of linen and cotton, Robert
Fulton of Paisley, one of the largest manufacturers of flowered
silk and thread gauzes, Dr. Roebuck of Carron, were all of
opinion that the Academy could serve a useful purpose to
manufacturers and house furnishers. °An elegant taste’
yet remained ‘ to be introduced into the Country in many of
the manufactures.’

Influenced by such opinions, the Board resolved to continue
the school, but before proceeding to appoint a Master, they
instructed the Secretary to prepare such draft regulations
for the conduct of the Academy as would * render it of real
utility to the ornamental manufacturers,’ and prevent the
abuses which hitherto prevailed.!

On 6th February 1786, the following regulations were
agreed upon :

1. That the Academy should be open on Monday, Wednesday, and
Thursday of each weelk from 4 p.m. till 6 p.m. during the year except
from 12th August till 12th November, and during the Christmas
Vacation.

2. That students presented by the Trustees—not exceeding twenty
in number—should be taught gratis and permitted to remain under
instruction for two years.

3. That since the object of the School was to promote and diffuse
‘ an elegant taste’ among manufacturers, the Master should direct
the practice of the students to ornamental drawing in particular, after
he had given proper instruction in the general principles of art, and
that he should strive to present the best models in the various styles
of ornamental design and direct attention to what was incongruous and
of a depraved taste.

4. That annually, at the Christmas season, the Master should
produce two patterns of his own composition, such patterns to be the
property of the Trustees and to be lodged in the Board’s office for the
inspection and use of manufacturers.

5. That twice in the year, at the beginning of March and August,
the Master should report on the progress of his students.

! MS. Minutes, 28rd January 1786,
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6. That the Master should be appointed on three years’ probation.

7. That students could only be admitted on the authority of the
Trustees, and those only who could produce evidence that they followed
or intended to follow the oceupations of an ornamental manufacturer,
of a house decorator, or a furniture manunfacturer, or that they intended
to become designers for such trades.

8. That students absent fron the Academy for one month should
forfeit: the privilege of returning unless a satisfactory certificate was
furnished to prove that absence was due to sickness or ‘ indispensible
business.’

9. That the School should be periodically visited by a Committee
of the Trustees.

10, That each year, at Christmas, a sum of £15 should be granted
by the Board for the five best drawings produced by students.*

There were seven applicants for the mastership of the
School—John Brown, David Allan, David Erskine, John
Donaldson, Alexander Nasmith, all painters, with George
Walker, a drawing-master, and John Bain, the designer.
On the recommendation of Robert Adam and Strange, the
engraver, David Allan was appointed. Born in Alloa in 1744,

he attended the Academy of Glasgow founded by Robert and
Andrew Foulis, the printers. He was a painter of repute and
a protégé of the Cathearts. In 1764 he travelled to Italy, and
while in Rome he impressed Sir William Hamilton who, in a
letter dated 19th March 1768, referred to Lady Cathcart’s
little painter as one of the greatest geniuses he had ever met.*
In 1773, while at Rome, he gained the prize medal awarded
by the School of St. Luke for the best historical composition.
He returned to London in 1777, and journeyed north to
Scotland in 1780 where he was entertained during the winter
months by Lord Hope at his house in Edinburgh. During
the summer he was commissioned by the Duchess of Athole
to paint the family group in a Highland setting. In 1788 he

1 MS. Minutes, 6th February 1786.
2 Catheart MSS. Iam indebted tothe Rev. T. Crouther Gordon, B.D., Ph.D.,
Clackmannan, for perusal of his notes regarding Allan.

ERbans HLy
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published an elegant edition of Ramsay’s ¢ Gentle Shepherd ’
containing twelve prints in aqua tinta. Of this work the
Board of Manufactures purchased twenty-two copies at one
guinea each.!

In the years succeeding Allan’s appointment as Master of
the Academy, candidates belonging to various trades and
occupations were admitted as pupils of the school—engravers,
seal-cutters, coach painters, house painters, damask weawvers,
japanners, wood carvers, efe. One, John Clark, was accepted,
who proposed ‘ to institute a Veterinarian School in Scotland.’
One, Archibald Elbeck, a seal-cutter, suspected of being a
member of the Convention of Friends, was refused admission.
By the end of 1786 the number of house painters attending
the school exceeded that of any other occupation, and the
Trustees, on Allan’s suggestion, restricted the number of
such students.

The character of the work produced by the pupils is
revealed in the Reports regarding the annual competitions for
premiums. In the Minute of 6th August 1788, we find refer-
ence to the drawing of a thistle, of a centre for a table-cloth,
of a bunch of grapes, of a branch of a thistle, and of a pine-
apple. Allan’s own designs, executed according to agree-
ment, included patterns for carpets, for damask table-cloths,
and for printed fabrics intended for house furnishing.

In November 1790 the Academy was compelled to remove
from the College, as the building was to be demolished in
order to make way for the new structure, now the University.
Allan found accommodation for his classes in a room in Mint
Close which the Trustees rented at ten pounds per annum.
The accommodation was much larger than that at the old
College building. The cost of heating and lighting was
reckoned at from ten pounds to twelve pounds a year, an
amount which the Trustees allowed, but Allan, probably

1 Bryan's Dictionary of Painters and Engravers (Geo. Bell & Sons, 1903).
K
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surprised at the generosity of the Board, refused to accept
more than eight pounds, a sum which he deemed ample for
fire and candle.

David Allan died in 1796, and as the office of Master of
the Academy was considered of great importance, ‘ requiring
a man of great inventive genius & knowledge of the fine
arts qualified to direct and improve the taste of the public
& to influence artisans and manufacturers of all descriptions
in the principles of Drawing and Design,” the Trustees’
Committee seriously deliberated upon the method by which an
appointment should be made. Letters were received from
Alexander Keith of Ravelston and Raeburn, the portrait
painter, suggesting a ‘ Comparative trial of Drawing &
Design by the Candidates ’; that each applicant should  be
shut in a room while Drawing, to prevent their receiving any
private assistance.” A similar recommendation was proffered
by John McGowan, who stated that it was the practice of
‘all foreign Academies where Artists contend for a Prize,
to preclude Drawing in private.” The Board, however,
resolved that each candidate should submit specimens of
designs ‘ from his own fancy,’ each at the same time making
oath that these were his own work. The Trustees’ Secretary
urged that candidates should produce suitable designs, not
less than twenty-four inches in size, half of which should
be drawn in chalk and half in water-colour ; and since the
human figure was essential to several types of fabric and was
frequently introduced in patterns for ornamental furniture,
candidates should incorporate the human figure in several of
their designs. As, in the City of Edinburgh where there were
so few artists, it would be difficult to find applicants with no
local conmections, it was proposed that the competitive
drawings should be submitted for adjudication to artists of the
Royal Academy of London. After consideration, the Trustees
agreed that candidates should submit one design for each of
the following : cotton furniture for hangings, a damask table-
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cloth, an Axminster carpet, a group of figures for © the centre
tablet of a chimney piece with a frieze,” and * Roof & frieze
of a Room in the arabesque Stile of ornament, with a Figure
for the Center of the Roof.’

Nine candidates submitted designs which were examined
by the President of the Royal Academy, who was particularly
arrested by two sets of drawings marked B and C, produced
by John Wood, teacher of drawing, Edinburgh, and John
Graham, history painter, London, respectively. The latter’s
work was specially recommended for °pre-eminence in
originality, composition, & Sense in the choice of materials
with which the various groups were composed.” The other
candidates for the mastership were: Walter Weir, portrait
painter, Glasgow ; Alexander Sime, painter and teacher of
drawing, Edinburgh ; Robert Morison, architect and draughts-
man ; John Barber, carver and drawing master; Eneas
McPherson, portrait painter; Alexander Nasmith; and
James Demaria, London.

In June 1797 the Secretary read to a Meeting of Trustees
a declaration made by Robert Cummins, carver and gilder,
and Edward Mitchell, engraver, both residing in the city,
stating that two drawings of ornaments in red chalk executed
by John Wood had been drawn almost entirely by Mitchell
in Wood’s house for a fee. Alexander Nasmith also repre-
sented that from this detection of the two drawings he was
warranted in inferring that the five drawings submitted by
Wood were not his own. He alleged it was well known that
Wood was incapable of drawing figures ‘in any degree
passable.” TIf, said he, Wood can disprove this, he should be
compelled to draw the figures included in his designs within
the Board’s office in presence of persons appointed to oversee
his work. No other evidence would convince the public that
he designed and executed the figures. Wood submitted
certification from four well-known gentlemen who stated that

1 MS. Minutes, 23rd November 1796.
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they had seen the five drawings in every stage of their develop-
ment. They had watched Wood at work and were confident
that the competitive drawings were his own. With reference
to the two drawings mentioned by Cummins and Mitchell,
Wood confessed that ‘ he employed an assistant to perform
the mere mechanical [work] of shading these under direction,
and then finished them himself.” He expressed a desire to
withdraw these and offered to execute one of them again,
‘locked up in a room in this office, a certain number of hours
per day,’ as the Board’s Secretary recorded. Nasmith, still
bent on proving Wood’s dishonesty, further declared that one
of the gentlemen who signed Wood’s certificate had con-
fessed that he had never seen Wood touch the ° Minerva.’
By reason of these charges, the Trustees ordered a full in-
vestigation by a Committee of their number, and on 5th July
1797 report was given that although suspicion was justified
regarding the two chalk drawings, there appeared no reason
to doubt that the five competitive drawings were not the
work of Wood. A test was therefore unnecessary. The
Trustees, apparently satisfied, proceeded to make an appoint-
ment, and Wood was chosen as Master of the Academy for
three years at a salary of £120. It is interesting to note that
Wood was recommended by Professors Stuart and Playfair,
and the Solicitor-General, and that the sponsors of Graham
were the Chairman of the Society of Polite Arts, London,
George Ramsay and J. F. Rigaud, portrait painters, London,
and John McGowan of Edinburgh.

In November 1797 the Duke of Athole objected by letter
to Wood’s appointment and preferred the claims of Graham
as a much superior draughtsman, but the Board held to their
decision.

On 13th December 1797 the Trustees’ Secretary proposed
that females should be admitted to the Academy on two
evenings in the week. He was supported by Sir William
Forbes, who approved of the daughters of tradesmen and
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manufacturers being afforded opportunity of acquiring a
knowledge of drawing, a branch of education necessary for
those engaged in the flowering of muslin, in Tambouring,
Embroidering, and for governesses and teachers in private
families.” Adoption of the suggestion would afford the Board
opportunity of employing Graham to undertake the instruc-
tion of such women. He was convinced that if Graham were
induced to settle in Edinburgh, his experience and work as
a private teacher would be the means of forming a School
of Art ‘much beyond anything hitherto attempted in Scot-
land.” The Trustees decided to delay the matter, and Forbes,
frustrated in his design to establish Graham, approached the
situation by advocating that it would be beneficial to the
mechanical arts and to the general public if a master were
appointed to teach the higher branches of design. In February
1798 the Trustees’ Secretary once more championed the cause
of Graham, offering the opinion that °taste for the elegant
Arts * might be further developed if the Board extended
patronage to the higher branches of design of which there was
no professed teacher in the city. If a master were appointed
to teach figure drawing and historical composition, the
mechanical arts would benefit. °It likewise happens for-
tunately,” he naively stated, ‘ that a Master of the higher
Branches of Design can at present be found in Mr Graham.’

As a result of these representations Graham was appointed
a ‘ Public teacher of Art,” with a salary of £120, for which
he was bound to teach gratis a certain number of pupils not
exceeding twenty, male or female, presented by the Board,
either in a general class along with fee-paying pupils or in a
class by themselves during two hours on each of the three
days the school was in session.

Graham arrived from London in 1798 to open his Academy.
As yet no accommodation had been obtained and no regula-
tions had been drawn up for the conduct of the school. The
Board’s Secretary accompanied by Graham had enquired
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diligently for a room of the necessary dimensions—° 30 ft to
40 ft long, of proportional width & 12 ft to 15 ft high, in a
decent situation.” The Board had sanctioned the payment of
an annual rent of £20, but it was not until 26th June 1799
that the Secretary was able to report the acquisition of a room
in St. James's Square, formerly occupied by the late David
Martin as a studio. Meanwhile the Trustees had allowed a
sum of £50 for the purchase of a collection of plaster figures
and busts from the antique. This was in transit from London
by the time accommodation for the school had been procured.
The Board was now in a position to advertise the opening of
the new Academy and to draw up regulations to prevent
abuses, such as the enrolment of unsuitable students. The
Secretary suggested that the school should be conducted on
lines similar to those of the Royal Academy of London, and
that students should be required to give proof of a certain
degree of proficiency by producing a drawing of a ‘ Round
Figure or a Statue,” or that they should submit a satisfactory
recommendation before being admitted and be enrolled on
trial for six weeks, drawing from the plaster fizure. Drawings
from nature and from antique statues, although well known
and considered ‘the only proper mode of obtaining correct-
ness and truth in Drawing and the only approved method of
forming an Artist,’ had as yet been but little practised in
Scotland. Most students pursuing art as an amusement or as
a profession copied from other drawings or paintings, draw-
ing masters accepting this method of teaching because it was
easiest for the student and pleasing to people superficially
acquainted with art. Most students could produce good copies
but were scarcely able to draw from nature or from life. After
due consideration the Board resolved that applicants should
produce satisfactory recommendations before being admitted
to the school, that they should remain for two years unless
after six weeks’ trial they showed no progress, and that
females as well as males should be enrolled. The school was
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to be open on Mondays, Wednesdays, and Thursdays from
12th November until 12th August each year, the first two
days in each week being reserved for males—not exceeding
twenty in number—and the third day for a similar number of
females. An annual expenditure of £10 was allowed for
premiums.t

By 27th November 1799 applications for enrolment in the
new Academy had been received from six coach painters,
three engravers, and from David Thomson, David Wilkie,
and William Wilson who intended to become artists. These
comprised the first students of the school.

In February 1800, Peter Edwin Sime, drawing master in
the city, declared that thefive drawings presented by John Wood
in March 1797 as specimens of his own work had been com-
posed and executed by him privately, locked up in Wood’s
house. Investigation by the Sheriff Substitute proved the
accusation and the Board dismissed Wood from his office,
his students being directed to attend Graham’s Academy.
Graham’s salary was increased by £30 and £10 was allowed
for fire and candle, the condition being imposed that ten to
twenty additional students should be taught.?

The nature of the teaching given in the Academy is
revealed by the Report upon the awards suggested for draw-
ings in March 1803. Four historical designs in oil, four
drawings from the round figure, and four drawings of orna-
ments for furniture had been entered for competition, and
it is interesting to observe that David Thomson gained the
premier award of £6 for the best historical design and £2 for
his drawing of the figure from the round, while David Wilkie,
proxime accessit, was awarded £2 and 17s. for his
submissions.

In July 1803 the Board, on the suggestion of Sir William
Forbes, decided to purchase, at a cost of £1000, the attic

1 MS. Minutes, 12th December 1708.
* Ibid., 6th March 1800.
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storey of the corner house in the tenement then in course of
erection at Picardy Place.! To this house the Academy was
transferred, and here the plaster figures and the casts from
the best of the Elgin Marbles, purchased in 1816 at a cost of
£120, were lodged. Here also the Associated Artists of
Edinburgh, devoid of funds to erect a building of their own,
met in the evenings to study the works of art in the Academy
and to draw from life.

In 1817 John Graham died. Applications for the vacant
post of Master were received from Nasmith, William Allan,
John Watson, James Howe, Peter Gibson, Donald MecLeod,
all resident in the city, from Andrew Wilson and A. Carse,
then in England, and from Robert Munro, Monfrose. In
January 1818 the Board agreed to appoint Andrew Wilson
to the vacancy.

Three years later complaint was made in a Report to
the Trustees concerning the situation of the Academy. The
school rooms were located at the top of a common stair and
over a baker’s shop and a tavern, ‘ the smoke and dust from
which * penetrated ”’ into the Room ’ and injured the casts.
The accommodation was so small that the statues were
crowded together, thus preventing the students from studying
them to advantage. A solution to the problem was presented
in an unexpected manner by a letter received from the
Assistant Secretary to the Institution for Encouraging the
Fine Arts in Scotland, which bore that the Institution desired
to coalesce with other Societies in building ° suitable Rooms
on the earthen mound (on a plan of Mr Playfair's) such as
would be ornamental to the City, and give dignity to the
different Institutions.” It was suggested that each Society
should appoint a small Committee to consider the matter
and that the Board of Manufactures should build rooms for
their Academy contiguous to those proposed by the Institu-

1 See ‘The Weavers of Picardy — The Book of the Old BEdinburgh Olub,
vol. xxv. p. 33.
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tion.! In their Scheme of Expenditure for the year 1822,
the Trustees included a sum not exceeding £500 towards the
expense of erecting a new Academy at the Mound.?

At a meeting of the Sub-committees of the Board, of the
Royal Society, the Institute of Fine Arts, and the Society
of Antiquaries, held on 2nd August 1822, it was suggested that
the Trustees should erect a building which would accom-
modate the three Societies as well as the Academy, each
Society becoming a tenant at a rental of five per cent. on the
outlay for the rooms occupied. Playfair reported that the
building would cost £14,000 if Craigleith stone were used and
£13,000 if materials were obtained from Cullalo or Red Hill
quarries. The accommodation required for the three Societies
was estimated to be as follows: 89,100 cubic feet for the
Royal Society including the Society of Antiquaries, 77,238
cubic feet for the Institution for Encouraging the Fine Arts,
and 92,862 cubic feet for the Board’s Academy and a Keeper’s
house, a total of 259,200 cubic feet. The City of Edinburgh
had offered a site on the Mound at an annual feu-duty of
£125.

On 6th August 1822 the Board of Manufactures adopted
the proposal to erect the building, provided the Societies
agreed to pay such rent as would constitute an adequate
return for the expenditure incurred in erecting those parts of
the building to be occupied by them and in keeping them in
repair, each Society deciding upon a long lease, paying rent
half-yearly, as well as a proportion of the feu-duty com-
mensurate with the area occupied.? g

As a result of negotiations it was agreed that the Institute
of Fine Arts should pay an annual rent of £250, the Roval
Society £250, and the Society of Antiquaries £100, on securivty,
and that leases be granted to each Society for a period of

1 MS. Minutes, 18th December 1821.

* Ibid., bth February 1822,
3 Ilhid., 6th August 1822,

L
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twenty-five years.! The Institute of Fine Arts was bound to
use their premises only for exhibitions and for the sale of
pictures.

Playfair, who had prepared plans and specifications and
had received estimates of the cost of building, was instructed
to accept the offer of John Inglis, the lowest, amounting to
£13,850. A superintendent or clerk of works was appointed
for one year at a weekly wage of 30s., his daily duties com-
mencing at six in the morning and ending at six o’clock in
the evening.

In March 1824 minor alterations were made on the plans to
suit the convenience of the Societies, and a sum of £1300 was
allowed for the additional work.

While the building was in progress Inglis experienced
great difficulty in procuring Cullalo stone and he submitted
what the Board’s Secretary described as an ° extraordinary
Representation and protest,” stating that unless a remedy
were found he would be forced to dismiss his builders, and
threatening that if within eight days the Trustees did not
decide to use stone from some other quarry equally con-
venient, he would hold them liable ‘in all costs, skaith damage
and expense * which he might sustain. Although the Board
at first expressed their unconcern in the difficulty or the
dispute between Inglis and the tacksman of Cullalo, they
were forced eventually to consider the advisability of allowing
the builder to use other stone to complete the structure.?
Playfair, who had travelled to Fife to inspect the quarry,
reported that the stone in Cullalo was gradually becoming
inferior in quality. He suggested that supplies should be
obtained from the Earl of Moray’s quarry at Dalgety and
elsewhere. The Board directed him to choose the most
suitable stone for the purposes of the building, and after
examining several quarries he decided to use Craigleith stone

1 MS. Minutes, 17th January 1823.
2 Ihid., 2nd March 1824,
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which, because of its hardness, increased the cost of building
by £362, 7s. 9d.1 On 6th July 1824 Playfair reported that
application had been made to Craigleith quarry for the
necessary stones for the north portico and the doric archi-
tecture of the whole structure, that supplies of stone were
being received, and that the building was proceeding in a
steady and satisfactory manner. The °colonack’ on the
western side had ® already swallowed up all the full column
stones obtained from Cullalo.” Thirty pieces were yet required
to complete the shafts of these eight columns and thirty-four
similar blocks were needed for the shafts of the three greater
columns on the south side. The old quarries at Cullalo were
nearly worked out and no new strata had been discovered.
This lack of stone was hindering the builders as, he understood,
it was deterring the builders at Lord Duncan’s house and the
High School. The best stone from Dalgety was being sent to
the Earl of Moray’s house in Moray Place. No supplies of
quality could therefore be procured from that quarter. The
only course lay in using Craigleith stone for most of the build-
ing, and this would entail a further payment to the builder
of £491, 17s. To this the Trustees agreed. The whole work
of construction was to be completed by 1st February 1825,
but on 25th January only half of the work had been finished.
To complete the structure eighty hewers and twenty builders
were constantly at work.

It was not, however, until March 1826 that the rooms for
the Drawing Academy were ready and about to ‘ receive the
last coat of paint.’” Arrangements were made for the removal
of the casts from Picardy Place and from the cellar in the
Exchange to the new accommodation at the Mound. In May
the suite of rooms intended for the Societies was ready for
occupation, the accommodation for the Institute of Fine Arts
being already used for an Exhibition of pictures. As yet the
railing for some of the stairs had not been erected and  some

1 MS. Minutes, 18th May 1824,
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trifles also & cleaning away rubbish ete.’ still remained to be
done. In July 1826, Alexander Smith, ¢ the Board’s Servant,’
was appointed keeper of the building, to attend to the Board’s
quarters and the hall statues, to lock the doors of the whole
building at night, and to attend to its safety. For such extra
duties he was granted an addition of £20 to his salary of £50,
with possession of the house. In November a further grant
of £25 was allowed for a female servant to clean the rooms,
as well as a sum of £8 for attending the master every evening
during the hours of teaching, ‘ to trim the lamps, attend the
fires, set the statues.’

Meanwhile the disposal of the house at Picardy Place had
been under consideration. On 13th December 1825 the
Board agreed to let the premises for one year to certain
‘ gentlemen associated with the purpose of establishing a
Drawing Academy for the children of gentlemen,” but agree-
ment on the matter was never reached.! In June 1830 the
old Academy house was let to Edward Mitchell, but as his
payments of rent were intermittent, the Board agreed to sell
the premises which Inglis valued at £600. Mitchell offered
to purchase at £400, an offer unacceptable to the Trustees
who let the house to John Fisher for £35, the Board being
liable for £22, 2s. 4d. for feu-duty and taxes. In November
1831 the premises were sold to David Pollock for £300.2

Before the new Academy was completed, Andrew Wilson
resigned his office and the Board, considering the ‘ great and
well-known talents’ of William Allan, historical painter,
¢ which had gained him recently the high honour of being
elected a member of the Royal Academy of London,” appointed
him master of the school at a salary of £150.* In March 1827
he was granted leave of absence to journey to London for the

1 MS. Minutes, 13th December 1825.

* Ihid., 8th June 1830 and 29th November 1831. Cf. ° The Weavers of
Picardy '—T'he Book of the Old Edinburgh Club, vol. xxv. p. 33.

3 Ibid., 21st February 1826.
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hanging of his picture in the Exhibition, and while he was
in the Capital he inspected the system of lighting by gas in
the Royal Academy. On the strength of his report it was
proposed to instal gas-lichting in the school at the Mound.?

In May 1829 the Royal Institution for Encouraging Fine
Arts, craving for a reduction of rent, expressed their willing-
ness to allow the Academy students access to their library and
to their class, lately established, for drawing from the living
figure. The Board of Manufactures, considering that the
desire of the Institution to improve painting, sculpture, and
architecture deserved encouragement, advised the Directors
to apply for a grant from the Treasury. In December 1829
Royal Warrant was received for the payment of £500 out of
the Trustees’ Funds to the Institution.?

In February 1831 Lord Meadowbank proposed that the
Royal Institution building should be extended, and the
Board, agreeing to the proposal, authorised an extension of
60 feet to the south at an estimated cost of £3827, 4s. 2d.
After negotiations between a Committee of the Trustees and
that of the Town Council regarding the ground to the south of
the Institution, preliminary consent was obtained from the
Town Council, the proprietors of Princes Street, and Thomas
Tod’s Trustees. A feu of 65 feet of land was granted by the
Town Council for an annual payment of £75, with leave to
purchase the feu-duty.?

In April 1832 Burn, the architect, submitted a letter—
which he had printed—recommending that the present build-
ing should be taken down and erected with enlargement © on
a more elevated position at the south end of the Mound upon
the ground belonging to Tod’s Trustees.” The proposal was
ignored, the Trustees preferring to proceed with their project,
receiving estimates from builders for the extension, and
accepting the offer of Wallace, the builder—£3356 for the

1 MS. Minutes, 10th July 1827, T fhid., 8th December 1820,
3 Ibid., 22nd February 1831 and 28th February 1832.
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north portion and £11,384 for the south.! By December
1833 Playfair was able to report that the foundations for the
extension had been completed. By February 1834 the
building was said to be * advancing rapidly.’ On 9th February
1836 the Board agreed to transfer its offices to the new building
at Whitsunday. On 8th March 1836 the Trustees considered
methods of heating their part of the building but delayed pend-
ing the results of ‘ the experiments then about to be made in
the Court of Session of heating by means of hot water conveyed
in pipes,” which experiment had been reported as successful.

On 14th June 1836 Playfair reported that he had accepted
the estimate of John Steele ‘ to execute in Binny Stone, 8
Sphynxes, each 12 ft long & 6 ft high to be placed on top of
the Royal Institution for £200.° On 22nd November it was
agreed to seek the permission of the Queen to erect her statue.
Permission was only granted after she had inspected a model
despatched to London at her command.

It is interesting to note that during building operations at
the extension of the Institution the Lord Provost of BEdin-
burgh ordered the removal of the temporary enclosure
belonging to the builders to make room for Wombwell's
Menagerie. This so disturbed Lord Meadowbank, who feared
the ‘ rabble who might chip the Columns,’ that he directed
the Board’s Secretary to make complaint. It was eventually
agreed to remove the enclosure further north and nearer the
building.? At a later date, December 1838, the Trustees found
reason to object to ‘the Circus of horsemanship ’ held in a
wooden building near the Imstitution. This had housed a
Waxwork Show and now it was let to Batty, the circus
owner. The Town Council, to whom the building belonged,
had agreed to remove the circus within fourteen days, but
they allowed the Zoological Society to keep °wild animals
they had collected ’ in the building until Whitsunday. It was

1 MB. Minutes, 2nd April and 14th November 1832,
* Ibid., 28th December 1835.
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not until the Board had instituted proceedings against the
Town that the structure was removed.!

From the year 1835 the Trustees’ Academy developed
along new lines. Thomas Barker Holdway, encouraged by a
grant from the Board, visited Paris in order to ascertain how
the French School of Pattern Drawing was conducted. His
Report, was referred to a Sub-committee, the Chairman of
which was Lord Meadowbank, who submitted a proposal to
form a class of twenty young men from twelve to sixteen years
of age who should be taught pattern drawing related to
manufactures only. The class was to meet on the first four
days of the week from 10 a.m. till 2 p.m. in winter and from
9 am. till 3 p.m. during the summer months under the in-
struction of Holdway, fo whom, it was suggested, a salary of
£100 should be paid for one year. In December the class was
advertised and in January 1836 Holdway began his teaching,?

At the beginning of the year 1837 two artists, Dyce and
Wilson, petitioned the Trustees to consider the propriety of
extending the School of Design by establishing two new
classes, one for © colouring ' and the other for ornamental and
architectural drawing. The pefition was upheld and Dyce
and Wilson were appointed Masters, the former of the colour
class, the latter of the architectural section, each at a salary
of £150.> Royal sanction for this development was obtained,
and twenty of Allan’s students were transferred to the class
of architecture. The students entered the school by different
doors ‘ to prevent confusion & disturbance.” In 1838 Dyce
resigned and Thomas Duncan, the only applicant, was
appointed to the vacant post.

The Minute of 28th November 1838 reveals that John
Glass, animal painter, George Greig, painter, John Campbell,
heraldic painter, John C. Winton, artist, and George Smith,
medical student, were admitted to Allan’s class ¢ for the

1 MS. Minutes, 12th December 1838. 2 Ibid., 24th November 1835,
4 Ibid., 8th January 1837.
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Human Figure,” and that Robert Caunter, James R. Swinton,
and Robert Tait, all of whom intended to become artists,
were enrolled in Holdway’s class. The number of students in
this class had fallen to five or six owing to the fact, as Holdway
stated, that manufacturers had left Edinburgh and that
youths from the west could not afford to board in the city.
In July 1839 Holdway reported that his class ‘ was thin * and
he proposed that it be removed to Glasgow. In September
the class was discontinued and Holdway was granted assist-
ance to the amount of £50 to enable him to establish a class in
Glasgow.!

In the spring of 1842 Allan travelled to London to present
addresses to the Queen and the Prince Consort on behalf
of the Royal Scottish Academy. Charles Wilson, Master of
the Ornamental Class, was appointed by H.M. Commissioners
for the Fine Arts to visit Germany and Ttaly in order to study
the state of the Fine Arts. While in Rome, he purchased on
behalf of the Trustees specimens of arts and manufactures
useful for his class, costing £50.%

In summer, 1843, Allan (now Sir William) was granted
leave of absence for fifteen days to work on his picture of
Waterloo. Charles Wilson, appointed Director of the Govern-
ment School of Design, London, intimated his resignation.
On 19th July 1843 Alexander Christie was appointed to
succeed him. In November 1843 Allan resigned owing to
ill-health, after seventeen years of service with the Board.
In August 1844 Thomas Duncan was appointed Headmaster
of the school, which had been re-constituted, the following
classes being authorised :

1. An Antique Class, to be taught by Duncan with two

assistants.

9. The School of Ornament and Architecture, to be

taught by Christie with one assistant.®

1 MS. Minutes, 10th July 1839, * Ibid., 9th March 1842.
3 Ihid., 23rd November 1843, 6th August 1844, 20th October 1844.
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In 1845 Christie was granted £50 for his services in teach-
ing Geometry, Sciography (Light and Shade), and Perspective.

Duncan died on 24th April 1845 and Christie became
Head of the school. In 1847 complaint was made to the
Treasury regarding the conduct of the school, and John Shaw
Lefevre was deputed to make enquiry into the constitution
and management of the Board. It was alleged that certain
differences had arisen between the Trustees and °some
artists ° and these had ‘been urged on the Lords of the
Treasury.” In his Report! Lefevre stated that he appreciated
the difficulties which had arisen between the Board and the
Royal Academy over the matter of accommodation. On
11th October 1849 the Treasury intimated their opinion
that ° Buildings containing galleries with suitable accom-
modation for Annual exhibitions of the Scottish Royal
Academy, and for the extension of the Schools of Design, and
for the institution of a Scottish National Gallery of Painting
& Sculpture * should be erected on the Mound, © between the
old & new Town of Edinburgh.” The Board was instructed
to prepare a plan and to receive estimates and to submit a
statement of the probable cost of acquiring the ground.
Parliament voted a sum of £40,000 towards the cost of erect-
ing the building.?

In 1851 enquiry was instituted regarding the state of the
School of Design. Opinions were expressed by Sir John
Watson Gordon, R.A., Lord Wood, Mr. Maconochie, Professor
Thomas Stewart Traill, and John Steele, R.S.A. As a result
of this enquiry the school was re-modelled.?

In 1853, on the recommendation of the Privy Council on
Education, teachers of the Free Church were permitted to
study drawing at the school on Tuesdays and Thursdays
from 6 p.m. till 7 p.m.

1 MS. Minutes, 25th June 1847, 30th November 1847, 14th January 1848,
% Ibid., 24th October 1849.
2 Ibid., 30th January 1851, 5th January 1852,
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The Report of the Committee charged with the manage-
ment of the School of Design, 1855, proposed new arrange-
ments for the conduct of the school founded on the recom-
mendations of a deputation which visited the Department of
Practical Art in London in 1854. These included the forma-
tion of Day Classes meeting from 10 a.m. till 12 noon from
October till July. Fees were to be charged to all classes—
morning and evening classes, seven shillings per term or £1, 15?.
per session; schoolmasters, schoolmistresses, and pupil
teachers, seven shillings for morning and evening classes ;
day classes, £3, 3s. per session. A course of instruction was t'-()
be given in ‘ moulding in plaster and elastic moulds & in
taking casts from moulds.” *

In December 1855 the Treasury urged the Trustees to
extend their sphere of activities by establishing affiliated
Schools of Design in the Provinces and to act with the assistance
and advice of the Department of Science and Art under the
Board of Trade, especially since the Industrial Museum in
Edinburgh was now under the superintendence of the Depart-
ment and formed an important feature of the plan of education
then under consideration. This, declared the Treasury,
would lead to uniformity of system in industrial education
and to a higher standard of art. The time was favourable f.or
increasing the existing facilities for attaining industrial
education in Secotland, particularly with respect to Schools of
Design. The Board of Manufactures raised objection to
the proposed affiliation of the School of Design to the Smfance
and Art Department, and Cole, Secretary to the Committee
of Council on Education, and Redgrave, Inspector of Art,
were sent to confer with the Trustees. These representatives
affirmed that the proposed affiliation would maintain the
existing status of the school and would bestow the benefits
of an annual examination by the Department’s Inspector,
who would award prizes. Prize works would be eligible for

1 MS. Minutes, 18th November 1855.
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the National Medallion provided they were based upon the
examples selected by the Department, If the Trustees
desired the aid of the Department in augmenting the salaries of
masters, each master would require to be certificated, and
each would receive from £10 to £50 according to the number
of certificates gained. Five pounds would be paid for each
student who passed in the five papers set, and thirty shillings
would be awarded for every pupil teacher who was successful
in any set test. Moreover, three shillings would be paid for
every poor child who passed an examination in the first
grade before an Inspector, provided the instruction had been
given or had been superintended by a Master. In addition,
the Department would allow £20 per annum to a pupil
teacher for every two hundred poor children taught. Pupil
teachers of the Edinburgh School would be eligible to
enter the Normal Training School in London to complete
their studies as masters, and while under instruction they
would be supported by the Department. The study of the
living model was to be conducted by the Royal Scottish
Academy. This, it was stated, would supply the necessary
Life School for the Schools of the Board in higher degree than
hitherto.!

While expressing appreciation of this proposal and of the
importance of teaching elementary drawing in the schools
of the middle and lower classes of the city, the Trustees were
strongly opposed to affiliation in any larger sense. In August
1858, after consultation with the Board, Cole and Bowler,
an Inspector of the Science and Art Department, furnished
a Report in which it was stated that the Department would
pay the salaries of the Director and the Masters of the school
(now designated the School of Art) as well as the expenses,
amounting to £500 for the year ending 31st March 1859.
The upkeep of the school thereafter would be provided by
fees which, it was hoped, would amount to £300 in the first

t MS. Minutes, 2nd June 1858.
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year of affiliation.! The School of Art was to continue under
the superintendence of the Trustees, who should be prepared
to afford the means of instruction in art and elementary
drawing to all classes of the community, the classes to meet
in the Imstitution building. Provision was also to be made
for teaching drawing in any public or other school in the
city.

yThe object of the course held in the Institution was the
education of artists, artisans, and others connected with
manufactures ; of pupil teachers, and of ladies and gentle-
men desiring to study art. The Course was to consist of
Freehand drawing, Architectural and Mechanical drawing,
Practical Geometry, the Projection of Shadows, Perspective,
the management and use of chalk in drawing, painting in
¢ Qils, Tempera, water Colours, and Fresco,” modelling in
clay and wax, carving in wood, moulding and casting, the
instruction comprehending ‘ every style from the simplest
ornament, still Life, and Flowers, to the study of the Human
Figure.’” Lectures were to be given in Pictorial Anatomy.®

To such proposals the Board signified their agreement,
and the School of Art, under affiliation, thus came under the
direct influence of the Science and Art Department of London.

It is interesting to observe that ‘ outside ’ teaching was
conducted by teachers of the school in the Rev. Dr. Thomson’s
Seminary in Queensferry Street, Morley, the teacher, in-
structing 60 pupils for two hours per day; in Dr. Bell’s
School in Niddry Street (270 boys and 146 girls for two hours
a day); in the Orphan Hospital, Dean (45 pupils for one
hour per day); in Holyrood Free Church School, Canon-
gate (43 pupils for one hour a day); in the Deaf and Dumb
Institute, Henderson Row (50 pupils for two hours per day) ;
in Moray House (96 pupils for two hours a day).

Alexander Christie died on 7th May 1860, and Charles D.

1 MS. Minutes, 13th December 1858.
2 Ibid., 13th September 1858.
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Hodder from the School of Art at Hanley in the Potteries was
appointed Head of the male section of the school.

By the year 1888 all schools under the management of
the School Board, all Secondary Schools and Technical Schools,
had conformed fo the rules of the Science and Art Department
as far as art education was concerned. This had the effect of
reducing the number of students in attendance at the School
of Art. There had been a decrease of 383 students, with a loss
of fees equal to £246. In 1890 the Secretary for Scotland
sanctioned the formation of a Life Class at the school, since
that at the Royal Academy was no longer available for the
Trustees’ students.?

On 10th June 1898 the Scotch Education Department, in
a letter to the Board, made reference to the fact that besides
the School of Art there existed a School of Applied Art which
received no grant from the Crown. This school had been
established in October 1892 as a result of a representation
made to the Board by artists and the art industries of Edin-
burgh, who objected to the system of advanced art education
provided by the Trustees, and who requested the Board to
establish a National School for higher education in design.
The school was under the superintendence of a joint Com-
mittee of the Trustees and of certain subscribers. The object
was to provide a means of education in art design suitable for
industry, architecture, decorators, sculptors, wood carvers,
metal workers, silversmiths, plasterers, bookbinders, printers,
and glass painters. The class was held in the Institution
building and enrolment was confined to males. Dr. Rowand
Anderson was a Director of the School. The Town Council
granted £1000 towards the support of the undertaking.?

1 MS. Minutes, 17th September 1861.

* MS. Minutes in the hands of the Trustees for the Art Galleries of Scotland,
Queen Street, Edinburgh, 7th June 1888, 4th December 1890.

# MS. Letter Book, School of Applied Art, 5th September 1892, 21st January
1897. Report, 21st February 1893.
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{ The Scotch Education Department suggested that the
School of Applied Art should be merged with the School of
Art under a system of general supervision. The body ad-
ministering the school envisaged by the Department was to
be representative of the most prominent sections of the
community, including the Town Council. The Board of
Manufactures was entrusted with the task of forming such a
joint body of managers and they referred the matter to a
Special Committee. On 13th April 1899 this Committee
submitted a memorandum in which they expressed the view
that the system of art education established by the Science
and Art Department had not fulfilled the anticipations of
the promoters. An opportunity was now offered to the
Board to create an Art School on an improved system. It
was imperative that a scheme with high aims should be
promulgated. The Board, agreeing with the terms of the
memorandum, approved the proposal to establish a new
School of Art, for the support of which the Town Council
granted a sum of £1000." The school held in the Institution
was to be transferred to a new building, and the rooms and
galleries thus made vacant were to be used partly as accom-
modation for the exhibition of the statues and casts belonging
to the Board and partly for the teaching of advanced students
of art.

In 1903 the School of Applied Art was amalgamated with
the School of Art. By January 1904 the increase in the
number of students in the various classes taxed the accom-
modation to such extent that the Board was forced to consider
the whole situation of the school. A meeting was held in the
City Chambers on 11th March 1904 at which representatives
of the Board conferred with a Committee of the Town Council.
The Royal Scottish Academy and the Heriot Trust were
consulted, and certain recommendations were made. The
Board’s Secretary travelled to London to consult the Scottish

1 MS. Minutes, Art Galleries, 2nd November 1899,
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Office and the Scotch Education Department as to the
future development of the school. While there he was in-
formed that further assistance, beyond the grant under the
Continuation Code, could not be allowed, and that a grant
could only be given when a Central School was established in
Edinburgh similar to the schools in Glasgow and Aberdeen.
In the following year the Scotch HEducation Department
impressed upon the Town Council the urgent need for a
Central School of Art. They asserted that the Council was
aware that a Bill had been introduced to Parliament the
previous session making provision for the discharge of the
duties presently exercised by the Board of Manufactures,
and they requested the Council to consider the project of
establishing a Municipal School of Art under their control
or under the direction of a Committee composed partly of
members of Council and partly of members of the public
interested in art.

In 1907 the Board received a communication from the
Scottish Office, dated 28th January, stating that by
Section 3 (1) of the National Galleries of Scotland Act a
Board of Trustees was to be appointed, to take effect on
Ist April 1907, on which day the Board of Manufactures
would cease to operate. The management of the School of
Art would pass directly to the Committee which would
ultimately be its authority, and the school would remain in
the Institute building until new premises for its accommoda-
tion were erected.?

Thus ended the activities of the Board of Manufactures.
Whatever criticism may be levelled against their direction
and management, it can searcely be gainsaid that their experi-
ments in the teaching of art hold a place in the history of
Scottish art education. By striving to improve the art of
design, by providing facilities for the instruction of artisans

! MS. Minutes, Art Galleries, 6th April 1905,
2 Ibid., Tth February 1907.
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in the elements of pattern drawing and directing their activities
to the creation of manufactures revealing artistic taste and
elegance, the Board influenced the development of Scottish
industry. By offering the means for the study of art Fhey
provided opportunities for men who in after years gamfad
distinetion as artists. The artisan and the painter alike
owed much to an institution which, in spite of difficulties
and disappointments, persisted throughout the long period
of one hundred and forty-seven years, developing gradu.all.y
with the growth of experience and knowledge of artistic
expression, until with the trend of the times it became merged

in the present School of Art.
Joux Mason.

OLD SUNDIALS IN AND NEAR EDINBURGH

THE first sundial mentioned in history is said to be that

of Ahaz who reigned over Judah in 742 B.c. He is
reputed to have got it from Chaldea. The natives
of Egypt are reported as forming a crude sundial by planting
a palm tree in the soil and placing a circle of stones around it.
Apparently in Biblical days, dials of some form were in use.
Verse two in the seventh chapter of the Book of Job reads,
‘As a servant earnestly desireth the shadow.’” The Greeks
and Romans made use of a curved and solid block of stone
called a ‘hemicycle,” invented by Berosus, three centuries
before the time of Christ.

The earliest Saxon sundials, which are found on the out-
side walls of many old churches in England, were merely
radii of a circle scratched on the stone, and they are called
‘scratch dials.” There is a famous one of this type at Kirkdale
Church, Yorkshire, which has an unusual feature in the
carving on it of two swastika crosses. Scotland has, or had,
five ‘ scratch dials.” I am unable to state whether those at
St. Salvator’s, St. Andrews, Melrose Abbey, and Mains, Forfar-
shire, are still existing. There is one to be seen on the south
porch of St. Michael’s Church, Linlithgow, represented by
five inconspicuous radii, and there is one on the jamb stone
of a church window at the Carmelite Episcopal Church, South
Queensferry. It consists of twenty-four radii incised within
a circle, radiating from a small round depression in the stone,
in the centre of the circle.

Dialling or gnomonics was a subject taught in our schools
in the 17th and 18th centuries, and university prizes were
given for the solution of problems connected with dials.
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